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DECLARATION OF GERALD ARMSTRONG

I, Gerald Armstrong, decllare:

1. I am over the age of| eighteen. I have personal
knowledge of the facts stated herein, and if called upon to
testify to the same I can do sb competently.

2. Appended hereto as Ekhibit A is a true and correct copy
of the Memorandum of Intended Decision issued June 20, 1984 by
Judge Paul G. Breckenridge, Jri, and filed June 22, 1984,
following a one-month bench trjal in the case of Church of

Scientology of California v. Geérald Armstrong, California

Superior Court, County of Los Angeles, Case No. C 420153. This
Memorandum of Intended Decision became the Decision in the case,
and subsequently the Judgment 1n the case in August, 1984.

3. Appended hereto as Exhibit B is a true and correct copy
of the opinion of the California Court of Appeal, Second

District, Division 3, Scientoldqy v. Armstrong (1991) 283 cal.

Rptr. 917, 232 cal.App.3d 1060, affirming the 1984 Decision and
Judgment .

I declare under the pgenalty of perjury under the laws
of the United States and Canadd that the foregoing is true and

correct.

Executed at Chilliwack, B.C., Canada on September 14, 1998.

GERALD MSTRONG
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SUPERIOR CCURT QF THE &TATE OF CALIFORNYS

FOR THE CQUNTY OF LOS AWGLLES

CHURCH OF SCIENTOLCGY OF CALIFORNIA, WO, O TIOR3
Blaintiss, SERURENDUM DT
ANTTELNEN DACTE TON
vs.
GERALD ARMSTRONG,
Defendant.

MARY .SUE HUBBARD,

Ifhterveno:.
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In this matter heretpfore taken under submissicn, The

Court announces its intenfed decision as follews: .

As to the tort causes wf action, plaintifZ, and plaintigs

in intervention are to ta

to Judgment and costs.

;

ke nothing, and detfendant iz euatitled

As to the equitable hctions; the court finds that neither

plaintiff has clean hands
are not entitled to the i

objects'presently retaine

, and that at least as of this time,
mmediate return of any docament or

3 by the court clerk. All =xhibits
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received in evidence or marl

specifically ordered sealedL

shall be available for publ
extent that any such exhibi
lawsuit,
differently than similar ex
Coﬁrt. Furthermcre,
materials turned over by Ar
shall not be considered or
or under seal.

All ogher documents or
ocf the clerk (not marked he
retained by the clerk, subj
presently in effect as to®s
time as trial court proceed
cross complaint. For the p
will occur when any moticn
the time within such a moti

without such a motion being

neither received in evidend

ked for identification, unless

» are matters of public record ang

s s : A
L.C lnspectlon or use to the same

. would be avéilable in any other

In other words they are to be treated henceforth no
nibits in other cases in Superior
the "ihventory list and description,' cf
mstrong's attorneys to the court,

deemed to be confidential, private,

objects presently in the possession

rein as court exhibits) shall be

ect to the same orders as are
ealing and inspection, until such
ings are ccncluded as to the severed
urposes of this Judgment, conclusion
for a new trial has been denied, "or

on must be brought has expired

made. At that time, all documents

e, nor marked for identification

only, shall be released by |the clerk to plaintiff's

representatives,

1, Exhibits in evidénce No.
NNN; 000; PPP; QCQ; RRR; and 500-Q0QQQ.

Exhibits for.identifigation only No. JJJJ;

500-DDDD, EEEE, FFFF, GGGG)
CCCCC, GGGGG, IIIII, KKKKX
000000, BBBBBBB.

Notwithsfanding this order, the parties may

500-40; JJJ; KKX; LLL: MMM:

Series
HHHH, IIII, NNNN=~-1, 0000, 2222,
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at any time by written sti

release of any or all such

Defendant and his ceu

upon any of Defendant Armsg|

a2 Scientologist or the con
evidence or marked for ide

crdered sealed. As to alll

under seal by the clerk, ¢
subject to the same injunc
until the conclusion of +H
However, in any cother lega
counsel, or any of them, i

the right to discuss exhib

pulation filed with the clerk obtain
unused materials,

nsel are free to speak or communicat;
trong's recollections of his ‘life as
tents of any exhibit received in

ntification and not Specifically
documents, and other materials helgd

ounsel and the defendant shall remain

tions as presently exist, at least

e proceedings on the cross complaint.

1l proceedings in which defense

s of record, such counsel shall have

its under seal, or their contents, if

such is reasonably necesséry and incidental to the proper

representation of his or H

Further, if any court
defendant or his attorney
such exhibit, document, oj
shall be given, and no viog
Likewise, defendant and hi
any documents under seal d
court has found to be priy
with any duly constituted
or submit any exhibits or

document or materials, wid

court,
177 .
111/

er client,

of competent jurisdiction orders
to testify concerning the fact of any
ject, or its contents, such testimony
lation of this order will occur.

S counsel may discuss the contents of
r of any matters as to which this
ileged as between the parties hereto,
Governmental Law Enforcement Agency
declarations thereto concerning such

hout violating any order of this
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This court will retaih jurisdiction to enforce, modify,

alter, or terminate any infjunction included within the

Judgment. ' . '

Counsel for defendan%| is ordered to prepare, serve, and

file a Judgment on the Complaint and Complaint in Intervention,

and Statement of Decision {if timely and pProperly reque$ted,

consistent with the court'ls intended decisien.

Discussion

The court has found the facts essentially as set forth in

defendant's trial brief, which as mocdified, is attached as an

appendix to this memorandum. In addition the cours finds that

while werking for L.R. BEubbard (hereinafter referred to as

LRH), the defendant alsc gad an informal employer-employee

relationship with plaintiflf Church, but had permission and

authority from plaintiffs |and LRH to provide Cmar Garrison with

every document or cbject Hhat was made available te Mr.
Garrison, and further, had permission from Omar Garrison to

take and deliver to his aftorneys the documents and materials

which were subsequently dglivered to them and thenceforth into
the custody of the County'Clerk. .

Plaintiff Church has|made out a prima facie case of
conversion (as bailee of the materials), breach of fiduciary
duty, and breach of confidence (as the former employer who

provided confidential materials to its then employee for

certain specific purposes
other purposes to plainti

Hubbard has likewise made

, which the employee later used for
ff's detriment). Plaintiff Mary Jane

out a prima facie case of conversion

- 4 -
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and invasion of privacy (misy
entrusted to him for certain
While defendant has assprted varicus theories of

the basic thrust of his testfimony is that he did what

because he believed that his

being, as well as that of hi

ise by a person of private matters
specific purposes only).
defense,

he did,
life, physical and mental well

s wife were threatened becauyge the

érganization was aware of what he knew about the life of LRH,

the secret machinations and
and his dedication to the truth.
he could defend himself, phy

lawsuits, was to take from Q

financial activities of the Church,
He believed that the only way
sically as well as from harassing

mar Garrison those materials which

would support and corroborafe everything that he had been

saying within the Church abqut LRH and the Church, or refute

the allegations macde agai§
Person Declare. He believed
- that the documents would ren

to send them to his attorney

st him in the April 22 Suppressive
| that the only way he could be sure
rain secure for his future use was

rs, and that to protee+ himself, he

had to go public so as to minimize the risk that LRH, the

Church, or any of their agents would do him physical harm.

This conduct if reasonably believed in by defendant and

engaged in by him in good

" the plaintiff's charges in

and case law.

Restétement of Agency
"Section 395f:

information confident

faith, finds support as a defense to

the Restatements of Agency, Torts,

¢| Second, provides:

An agent is privileged to reveal

iplly acquired by him in the course

of his agency in the protection of a superior interest of

himself or a third perjson.
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"Section 418:

interests

prinéipal, even though

An|agent is privileged to protect

of his own whiich are superior to thocse of the

he does so at the expense of the

principal's interest of in discbedience to his orders."

Restatement of torts, Second, section 271:

"One is privilegeld to commit an act which wouid

otherwise be a trespas

the possessicn of anot

s to or a conversion of a chattel in

her, for the purpose of defending

himself or a third perscn against the other, under the

same conditions which

would afford a privilege to inflict

harmful or offensive dontact upon the other for the same

purpose.”

The Restatement of Tor

. 3
case law, make it clear thj

unlawful or tortiocus.

unreasonable that it becomes actionable.

fact must,engage in a bala:

extent of the invasion,

therefore to determine whe

invasion or intrusion was

ts, Second, section 652a, as well as

bt not all invasions of privacy are

It 1s only when the invasion is

Bence, the trier of
hcing test, weighing thé nature and
as| against the purported justificatien
ther in a given case, the particular

unreasonable.

In addition the defendant has asserted as a defense the

principal involved in the

case of Willig v. Gold, 75

Cal.App.2d, 809, 814, whidh holds that an agent has a right or

privilege to disclose his

Plaintiff Church has

rights arising out of the

principal's dishonest acts to the

- party prejudicially affected by them.

asserted and obviously has certain

First Amendment.

Thus, the court

cannot, and has not, inqujred into or attempted to evaluate the

-6 -
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merits, accuracy, or truthfulness of Scientology or any of its

precepts as a religion. Filrst Amenément rights, however,

.4 s . a
cannot be utilized by the Church or its members, as a sword to

preclude the defendant, whom the Church is suing, from

defending himself. Therefore, the actual pPractices of the

Church or its members, as it relates to ﬁhe reasonablerfess of

the defendant's conduct and his state of mind are relevant,

admissible, and have been considered by the court

As indicated by its factual findings, the court finds the

testimony of Gerald and Jodelyn Armstrong, Laurel Sullivan,

Nancy Dincalcis, Edward Wallters, Omar Garrison, Kima Douglas,

and Howard Schomer to be credible, extremely persuasive, and

the defense of pPrivilege or justification established and

corroborated by this eviddjce. Obviously, there are some

discrepancies er variationg in recollections, but these are the

nermal problems which arisgq from lapse of time, or from
different pecple viewing matters or events frcem different
perspectives. In all critical and impcrtant matters, their
teéti&ony was precise, accdrate, and rang true. The picture
painted by these former dedicated Scientologists, all of whom
were intimately involved with LRH, or Mary Jane Hubbard, or of
the Scientology Organizatidn, is on the one hand pathetic, and
on the other, outrageous. |Each of these persons literally gave
years of his or her respective life in support of a man, LRH,
and his ideas. Each has m3nifested a waste and loss or
frustration which is incapable of description. . Each has broken

with the movement for a variety of reasons, but at the same

time, each is, still bound|by the knowledge that the Church has
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in its possession his or her
confessions, all recorded ih
other security files of the |o
or its minicns is fully capab
physical or psychological aHu
record is replete with eviddn

In 1970 a'police agency
an investigation into Sciento
under the pfetext cf 'freeing
2 vast enterprise to extracH
its adepts $y (use of) pseudo
'auditions' and 'stage settin
scene') pushed to extremgs.(a

particulagr phraseclogy . %)

4

families and to exercise a Wi
who do not wish to centinue |w
evidence presented to this do
similar conclusions can be dr
abusing its own members civill
years with its "Fair Game" do
those persons not in the Chuyr

The organization clearly is (s

most inner thcocughts ang

"pre-clear (P.C.) folders" or
rganization, and that the Church
le of intimidation or other

se if it suits their ends. The

ce of such abuse. €

cf the French Government conducted
logy and concluded, "this sect,
humans' is nothing in reality but
the maximum amount of money from

-scientific theories, by (use of)
gs' (lit. to create a theatrical
machine to detect lies, its own
to estrange adepts from their

nd of blackmail against persons
ith this sect."2 From the

urt in 1%84, at the very least,
awn. In addition to violating ang
rights, the crganization over the
ctrine has harassed and .abused

ch whom it perceives as enemies.

chizophrenic and paranoid, and

this bizarre combination sedms to be a reflection of its

founder LRH. The evidence Bo

virtually a pathological 1lidr

2, Exhibit 500-HHHEH |

rtrays a man who has been

when it comes to his history,
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background, and achievements. The writings and documents in

evidence additionally refldct his egoism, greed, avarice, lust

for power, and vindictivendss and aggressiveness against

perséns perceived by him td be disloyal or hostile. At the

same time it appears that He is charismatic and highly capable

of motivating, organizing, |controlling, manipulating, and

inspiring his adherents. He has been referred to during the

trial as a "genius," a "revered pPerson," a man who was "viewed
by his followers in awe." Obviously, he is and has been a very

cemplex perscn, and that cgmplexity is further reflected in his

alter ego, the Church of Sgientology. Ncotwithstanding

protestations to the contrdry, this cou-t is satisfied that LRH

runs the Church in all ways through the Sea Organization, his
role of Commodcre, and thé Commodore's Messengers;3 He has, of
course, chosen to go into 'lseclusion,™ but he maintains contact
and éontrol through the top messengers. Seclusion has its

light and dark side too. It adds to his mystique, and yet

shields him from accountability and subpoena or service of
summons.
LRH's wife, Mary Sue Hubbard is alsoc a plaintiff herein. -
On the one hand she certainly appeared to be a pathetic
individual. She was force¢ from her pPost as Controller,
convicted and imprisoned ag a felon, and deserted by her
husband. ©n the other hant her credibility leaves much to be

desired. She struck the familiar pose of not seeing, hearing,

3. See Exhibit K: Flag Order 3729 - 15 September 1978
"Commodore's Messengers,"
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or knowing any evil. vYet gH
Office for years and among d
order "GO 121669"% yhich 4id
confidential P.C. files/fold
security. In her‘testimony
deferdant by delivering the
attorneys, subjected her to
and the court finds that def
permission to utilize these
Garrison's proposed biograph

shown any of the documents

Douglasses, the Dincalcis, a

specifically affecting LRH'S son "Nibs, "

le was the head of the Guardian
pther things, authored the infamous
rected culling of supposedly

lers for purposes of internal

she expressed the feeling that

documents, writings, letters to his

mental rape. The evidence is clear
fendant and Omar Garrison had
documents for the purpose of

ly. The only other persons who were
yere defendant's attorneys, the

ind apparently some documents

were shown to "Nibs."

Tpe Douglasses and Dincal&i
who had a concern for their
were much in the same situa
been declared as suppressiv
folders, as well as other c¢
apprehensive. They did not

it is not entirely clear wh

Hubbard did not appear to b

es were disaffected Scientologists
own safety and mental security, and
icn as defendant. They had not

» but Scientology had their P.C.
nZessions, and they were extremely
see very many of the documents, and

ch they saw.

SO much distressed by this fact,

as by the fact that Armstrong had given the documents to

Michael Flynn, whom the Church considered its foremost

4. Exhibit AAA.

L 10 -

At any rate Mary Sue -
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lawyer-enemy.s However, just as the plaintiffs have First

Amendment rights, the defendant has a Constitutional right to

an attorney of his own choosfing. 1In legal contemplation the

fact that defendant selected|Mr. Flynn rather than some other

lawyer cannct by itself be tprtious. 1In determining whether

the defendant unreasonably invaded Mrs. Hubbard's privagy, the

court is satisfied the .invasicon was slight, and the reasons and

justification for defendant's conduct manifest. Defendant was

told by Scientology to get an attorney. He was declared an

enemy by the Church. He bellieved, reascnably, that he was

subject to ;fair game." The only way he could defend himself,
his integrity, and his wifé was to take that which was
available to him and place it in a safe harbor, to wit, his
lawyer's custody. He may‘have engaged in overkill, in the
sense that he tock voluminous materials, some of which appear

only marginally relevant to |his defense. But he was not a

lawyer and cannct be held tg that precise standard of judgment.
Further, at the time that he was accumulating the material, he
was terrified and undergoing severe emotional turmcil. The
court is satisfied that he did not unreasonably intrude upon
Mrs. Hubbard's privacy under the circumstances by in effect
simply making his knowledge|that of his attorneys. It is, of
course, rather ironic that the person who authorized G.0. order

121669 should complain about an invasion of privacy. The

5. _"No, I think my emotional distress and upset is the
fact that someone took papers and materials without my
‘authorization and then gave| them to your Mr. Flynn."
Reporter's Transcript, p. 1006,

L 11 -
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'pracﬁice of culling suppose
files™ to obtain informatio
and/or harassment is repugn
Office, which plaintiff hea
civil richts, particularly

Hubbard's cause of action £
reason as plaintiff Church.
Omar Garrison's possession.
defendant could make any 4&i

Insofar as the return

which are still under seal

trial of éhe cross complain
litigation. By the time th
complaint are concluded, th

those documents or objects

returned to plaintiff.

However,

ly confidental "P.C. folders or

for purposes of intimidation
Ent and outragéous. The Guardian's

ed, was no respector of anyone's

that of privacy. Plaintiff Mary Sue

or conversion must fail for the same
The documents were all toggther in
There was no rational wéy the

stinction.

of documents is concerned, matters

may have evidentiary value in the

£ or in other third party
at proceedings on the cross

e court's present feeling is that

not used by that time should be

the court will reserve

jurisdiction to reconsider| that should circumstances warrant.

Dated: June 1o , 1984

i ‘ V\/ /-/ \/"’G/L‘//
PAUL G. BRECKENRJDGE, oR.

Judge of the Superior Court

THE| DOCUMENT TO WHICH THIS CERTIFICATE IS AT.
TACHED IS A FULL, TRUE AND CORRECT COPY OF THE
ORIGINAL ON FILE AND OF RECORD INM MY OFFICR

s AUGS 184 - — 3 <
. my - . DEPUTY
S. HURST T

- 12 -
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Appendix

Defendant Armstrong was involved with Scientology from
1969 through 1981, a period spanning 12 years, During that
time he was a dedicated and devoted member who revered the
founder, L. Ron Hubbard. Nere was little that Defendant
Armstrong would not do ‘or Hubbard or the Organlzatlona He
gave up formal education, ¢ne-third of his 1lif

<e, money and
anything he could give in ¢rder to further the goals of
Scientology, goals he believed were based upen the truth,
honesty, integr ity of Hubbard and the Organization.

From 1971 through 198 » Defendant Armstrong was a member

of the Sea Organization, a group of highly traineg

scientologists who were considered the upper echelon of the

_Scientology organization.‘ During those years he was placed in

various locations, but it was never made clear to him exactly

which Sc;entology corporation he was working for. Defendant
Armstrong understood that, |ultimately,” he was working for L.
Ron Hubbard, who controlled all Scientology finances,
personnel, and operations while Defendant was in the Sea
Organization.

Beginning in 1979 Deféndant Armstrong resided at Gilman
Hot Springs, California, in Hubbard's "Household Unit." fThe
Household Unit took care of the personal wishes and needs of
Hubbard at many levels. Defendant Armstrong acted as the L.

Ron Hubbard Renovations IntCharge and was responsible for

renovations, decoration, and maintenance of Hubbard's home and

cffice at Gilman Hot Springs.

/17
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- Hubbard's representatives,
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In January of 1980 there was an announcement of a possible

raid to be made by the FBI lor other law enforcement agencies of

the property. Everyone on |the Property was required by

.the Commodore's Messengers, to go

through all documents locatled on the property and "vet" or

destroy anything which showed that Hubbard controlled -«

Scientology organizations, |retained financial controcl, or was

issuing orders to people at Gilman Hot Springs.

A commercial paper shpedder was rented and cperated day

and night for two weeks to destroy hunéreds of thousands of

pages of documents.

During the period of éhredding, Brenda Black, the

individual responsible for storage of Hubbard's personal

belongings at Gilman Hot g@rings, came to Defendant Armstrong

with a box of deccuments and asked whether they were to be

shredded. Defendant Armstrong reviewed the doéuments and found

that they consisted of a wide variety of documents including

Hubbard's personal papers, |diaries, and other writings frem a

time before he started Diapetics in 1950, together with

documents belonging to thifrd persons which had apparently been
stolen by Hubbard or his agents. Defendant Armstrong took the
documents from Ms. Black and placed them in a safe location on
the property. He then searched for and located another twenty
or more boxes containing similar materials, which were poorly

maintained.

On January 8, 1980, Defendant Armstrong wrote a petition

to Hubbard requesting his permission to perform the research

for a biography to be done|l about his life. The petition states

-2 -
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that Defendant Armstrong ha

lists of a number of activities he wish
connection with the biograghy research.

Hubbard approved the Hetition,

became the L. Ron Hubbard b

(PPRO Res). Defendant claij

approval forms the basis fdr a contract be

Hubbard. Defendant Armstro
Sullivan, L. Ron Hubbard's

During the first pars
all of the_L. Ron Hubbard A

Gilman Hot Springs to an off

Cedars Complex in Los Angelles.
approximately six file caﬁinets.
located himself in the Cedars Complex,

involved in "Mission Corporate Category Sort-Qut,"

work out legal strategy. D

this mission until June of [1980.

d located the subject materials and

ed to perform in

and Defendant Armstrong

ersonal Relations OCfficer Researcher

ms that this pPetition and ies

tween Defendant and

ng's'supervisor was then Laurel
Personal Public Relations Officer.
of 1980, Defendant Armstrong moved
rchives materials he had located at

fice in the Church of Scientology

These materials comprised
Defendant Armstrong had
because he was also

a2 mission to

efendant Armstrong was involved with

It was also during thils early part of 1980 that Hubbard

left the location in Gilman)

Hot Springs, California; and went

into hiding. Although Defelndant Armstrong was advised. by

Laurel Sullivan that no one

could communicate with Bubbard,

Defendant Armstrong knew that the ability for communication

existed, because he had forwarded materials to Bubbard at his

request in mid-1980.

Because of this purported inability to communicate with

Hubbard, Defendant Armstrong's request to purchase biographical

materials of Hubbard from feople who offered them for sale went

3
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to the Commodore's Hessenger Organization, the personal

representatives of Hubbard.

In June of 1980 Defendant Armstrong became involved in the

selection of a writer for the Hubbard biography. Defendant

Armstrong learned that Hubbard had approved of a biography
proposal prepared by Omar Garrisen, a writer wWho was not® a

member of Scientology. Defeéndant Armstrong had meetings with

Mr. Garrison regarding the riting of the biography and what

documentation and assistance would be made available to him.

As understood by Mr,. Garrison, Defendant Armstrbng represented

Hubbard in these discussions.

Mr. Garrison was advised that the research material he

would have at his disposal were Hubbard's personal archives.

Mr. Garriscon would only uﬁdrrtake a writing of the biography if

the materials provided to him were from Hubbard's personal
archives, and only if his manuscript was subject to the

approval of Hubbard himself),

In October of 1580 Mr.|Garrison came to Los Angeles and

was toured through the Huberd archives materials that

Defendant Armstrong had assembled up to that time. This was an

important "selling point" in obtaining Mr. Garrison's agreement
to write the Siography. On October 30, 1980, an agreement was
entered into between Ralstom-Pilﬁt, ncv. F/S/0 Omar V.
Garrisqn, and AOSH DK Publications of Copenhagen, Denmark, for
the writing of a biography ¢f Hubbard.
Paragraph IOB.of the agreement states that:
"Publisher shall pse its best efforts to provide

Author with an office, an officer assistant and/or




I I . % O

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

st
————

research assistant, office su

PPlies and any needed

archival and interview materials in connection with

| )
the writing of the Work."

The "research assistant"” provided to Mr. Garrison was
Defendant Armstrong.

During 1980 Cefendan ArImstrong exchanged correspondence

with Intervener regarding| the biography project. Following his

approval by Hubbard as bi graphy researcher, Defendant

nor on February 5, 1980, advising her

of the scope of the prcject.

Armstrong wrote to Interv

In the letter Defendant stated

that he had found documents which included Hubbard's diary from

his Orient trip, poems, essays from his youth, and several

perscnal letters, as well as other things.

By letter of Februar 11, 1980, Intervenor responded to

Defendant, acknowledging that he would be carrying out the

duties of Biography Researcher.

On October 14, 1980, Defendant Armstrong again wrocte to

Intervenor, updating her on "Archives materials"™ and pProposing

certain guidelines for th handling of those materials.

It was Intervencor who, in early 1981, ordered certain

biographical materials £rgm "Controller Archives" to be

delivered to Defendant Ammstrong. These materials consisted of

several letters written by Hubbard in the 1920's and 1930's,

HEubbard's Boy Scout books |and materials, several old Hubbard

family photographs, a diagy kept by Hubbard in his youth, and

several other items.

Defendant Armstrong received these material; upon the

order of Intervenor, follgwing his letter of October 15, 1980,
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to her in which Defendant s

materials in the

rated, at page 7, that there were

"Controllef Archives” that would be helpful to

him in the biocgraphy researth.

After these materials
Armstrong,
of Controller

the felony of

theft of Scientology docume

and agencies in Washington,

Intervenor was r

obstruction o

were delivered to Defendant

emoved from her Scientology position

in 1981, presjumably because of her convid%ion for

f justice in connection with the

nts from various government offices

D.C.

During the time Defendant Armstrong worked on the

biography project and acted

never any mention that he w

personal documents or that

as Hubbard Archivist, there was
as not to be dealing with Eubbard's

the delivery of those documents to

Mr. Garrison was not authgri:ed.

For the first year or

archive project, funding c3
unit at Gilman Hot Springs,
however, Defendant Armstror

ordered him to request that

SEA Org Reserves,

from the SEA Org Reserves (

top Commodores Messenger Of

personal representatives.

From November of 1980

worked closely with Mr. Gai

into logical categories, cq

of the Archives materials

Armstrong made two copies ¢

into bound volumes.

more cf the Hubbard biography and
me from Hubbard's personal staff

California.  In early 1981,

lg's supervisor, Laurel Sullivan,

t funding come from what was known as

Approval for this change in funding came

lhief and Watch Dog Committee, the

rganization unit, who were Hubbard's

through 1981, Defendant Armstrong
rrison, assembling Hubbard's archives
ppying them and arranging the copies

‘Defendant

pf almost all documents copied for
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’representations he had made

Mr. Garrison - one for Mr.
Hubbard Archives for referej
Armstrong created approximaj
vast majority of the docume

Hubbard's personal Archives

in charge.

the Controller Archives, were provided to Defenda

by Scientology stass members

care.

It was nct until late 1981 that Plaintis<

Person to assist on the bicg

ice or Tecopying,

fely 400 binders of documents.

Materials which came from other Archives

Farrison and the other to remain in

Defendant

The

hts for Mr. Garrison came from

of which Defendant Armstrong was

s, sfch as

nt Armstrong

who had these documents in their

f was to provide a

raphy project by providing Mr,

Garrison with "Guardian Office materials,

octherwise described

as technical materials relading +o the Ooperation of

Scientologvy. The indiviaday

Joung.,

connection to the Hubbard Archi#es, which De

Created and maintained as Hy

appointed for this task was Vaughn

Controller Archives and Guardian Office Archives had no

fendant Armstrong

bbard's perscnal materials.

In addition to the assemblage of Hubbard'sg Archives,

Defendant Armstrong worked continually on researching and

assembling materials concerniing Hubbard by interviewing dozens

of individuals, including Hupbard'sg living aunt, uncle, and

four cousins.

Defendant Armstrong did a geneology study of

Hubbard's family and collected, assembled, and read hundreds of

thousands of Pages of docume
During 1980 Defendant A

Hubbard's honesty and integr

Publications were truthful..

htation in Hubbard's Archives.
Fmstrong remained convinced of
ity and believed that the
pbout himself in various

Defendant Armstrong was devoted to
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‘Organization’and its leader

Hubbard and was con§inced t
discovered to be unflatteri
what Bubbard has said about
Hubbard's enemies.

Even wh

documents in Hubbard's Arch

representations made by Hubbar

untrue, Defendant Armstrong

would find some means to "

hat any information which he

ng of Hubbard or contradictory to
himself, was a lje being spreag by
en Defendant Armstrong located

ives which indicated that

d anéd the Organization wefa

explain

away"® the contradictory infprmation.

Slowly, however, throu

lied about Hubbard's past, }
accomplishments. Defendani
that the‘only means by which
Defendan+t Armstrong belieteg

ethical environment on earth

free of his critics, would H

to discontinue the lies aboyt Hubbar

and accomplishments.

Armstrong believed,

Fhout 1381, Defendant Armstrong
began to see that Hubbard apd the Organiz

zation had continuously

nis credentials, ang his

in good faith,
Scientology could Succeed in what

was its goal of Creating an

b, and the only way Hubbard could be

be for Hubbard and the Organization

d's past, his credentials,

Defendant Armstrong resisted any public

relations piece or announcement about Hubbard which the L. Ron

Hubbard Public Relations Bu
was not factual. Defendant
make accurate the various "3

Scientology boocks, and furth

eau proposed for publication which |
Armstrong attempted to change and
bout the author® sections in

er, Defendant rewrote or critiqued

several of these and other publications for the L. Ron Hubbard

Public Relations Bureau and

Defendant Armstrong believed

vy

various Scientology Organizations.

and desired that the Scientology

discontinue the perpetration of the
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massive fraud upon the innocent followers of Scientology, and

the public at large.

Because of Defendant Arzmstrong's actions, in late November

of 1981, Defendant was requepted to come to Gilman ot Springs

by Commodore Messenger Organfization Executive, Cirrus Slevin.

Defendant Armstrong was ordered to undergo a "security cﬁeck,"

which inveclved Defendant Armptrong's interrogation while

connected to a crude Scientcology lie detector machine called an

E-meter.

The Organizaticn wished

Defendant Armstrong had provided to Omar Garrison.

to determine what materials

Defendant

Armstrong was struck by the'realizaticn that the Organization

would not work with him to cprrect the numerous fraudulent

representations made to f&81llbwers of Scientology and the public

about L. Ron Hubbard angd the

Organization itself. Defendant

Armstrong, who, for twelve years of his life, had placed his

complete and full trust in Mf. and Mrs. Bubbard and the

Scientology Organization, satw that his trust had nc meaning and

that the massive frauds perpetrated about Hubkard's past,

credentials, and accomplishments would continue to be spread.

Less than three weeks before Defendant Armstrong left

Scientology, he wrote a lett
1981, in which it is clear t
inaccuracies, falsehoods, an
done in good faith. 1In his
. "If we p

or downright

doesn't matte

er to Cirrus Slevin on November 25,

hat his intentions in airing the

d frauds regarding Hubbard were
letter he stated as follows:
resent inaccuracies, hyperbole
lies as fact or truth, it

r what slant we give them, if

-9 -
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disproved

at least, -

the man will lock, to outsiders

like a charlatan. This is what

I'm trying| to prevent and what I've been

working on| the past year and a half,

and

[ 4

that is why I said tc Norman that

it is Up to us to insure that everything

which goes

cut about LRH is cne hundred

percent accurate. That is not to say that

opinions clan't be voiced, they can. And

they can cntain all the hype ycu want,

But they should not be construed as facts.,

And anythilng stated as a fact should be

documentabfe.

we are in a periocd when

'investigative reporting' is popular, and

when therg is relatively easy access to

documentation on a person. We can't delude

ourselves

I believe, if we want to gain

public acgeptance and cause some betterment

in society, that we can get away with

statementsg, the validity of which we don't

know.
fThe
ultimaﬁe 1
that even
is one hujg

it as suc]

real disservice to LRH, and the
nake-wrong is to go on assuming

rthing he's ever written or said

ndred percent accurate and publish

- without verifying it. I'm
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talking he
nen-techni
should any
inaccurate
consequent

*"That

prevent.

hype, erro
granting h
centinue o
erred nor
an unreal
both the r

it would w

falsities

e about biographical or

al writings. This only leads,

©f his statements turn out to be
to a make-wrong of him, and

Y his technology.

s what I'm trying to remedy ‘and

y that LRH is not capable of

s or lies is certanly “sici not
much of a beingness. To

n with the line that he has never
ied is counterproductive. It is

ttitude and too far removed from

ality and pecople in general that

lden public unacceptance.

+ That is why I feel the

ust be corrected, and why we

must verify our facts and present them in a -

favorable

ight."

The remainder of the|letter contains examples of facts

about Hubbard which Defendant Armstrong found to be wholly

untrue or inaccurate and

hich were represented as true by the

Hubbards and the Scientolegy Organization.

In December of 1981 |

to leave the Church of sc

pefendant Armstrong made the decision

ientology. In order to continue in

- 11 -
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his commitment to Hubbard
project, he copied a largs

Garrison had requested or

which would be useful to him for the

and Mr. Garrison in the biography

e quantity of documents, which Mr.

biography. Defendant Armstrong delivered all of this material

to Mr. Garrison the dat:e

nothing in his possession

he left the SEA Organization and kept

L]

Thereafter, Defendanft Armstrong maintained friendly

relations with Hubbard's
Archives cffice and discu
materials. In fact on Fe

wrote to Vaughn Young, re

representatives by returning to the
ssing the varicus categories of
bruary 24, 1982, Defendant Armstrong

igarding certain materials Mr. Young

was unable to locate for Omar Garrison.

After this letter was written, Defendant Armstrong went tc

the Archives cffice and 1}

had wanted which Eubbard

locate.

At the time Defendar

3cated certain materials Mr. Garrison

representatives claimed they could nct

t Armstrong left the SEA Organization,

he was disappointed with [Scientoleogy and Hubbard, and also felt

deceived by them. Howevegr, Defendant Armstrong felt he had no

enemies and felt no ill

ill toward anyone in the brganization

or Hubbard, but still believed that a truthful biography should

be written.

After leaving the S

Organization, Defendant ARmstrong

continued to assist Mr. Qarrison with the Hubbard biography

project. 1In the spring ¢f 1982, Defendant Armstrong at Mr.

Garrison's request, trangcribed some of his interview tapes,

copied some of the documeéntation he had, and assembled several

more binders of copied materials.

Defendant Armstrong also set
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up shelves for Mr. Garrison f{

materials, worked on a cross-+

or all the biography research

reference systems, and continued

to do library research for the biography.

On February 18, 1982, the Church of Scientology

Internatiocnal issued a "Supp]
Armstreong,” which i1s an offi
against individuals who are {
Organization. Said Suppress
Defendant Armstrong had take
was spreading destructive ru

Defendant Armstrong was
Declare until April of 1982;
was issued on April 22, 1382
Armstrong with 18 different

Suppressive Acts Against the

theft, juggling accounts, ob

Pretenses, promulgating falsge information about the Church

its founder, and members, an
designed to make Defendant A
the Scientology "Fair Game O
suppressive person to be "t
destroyed,”

The second declare was
Arﬁstrong attempted to sell
Rubbard's ship (in which Hu}

belonging to some of his fri

ressive Person Declare Gerry

e

rial Scientology document issued
considered as enemies of the

ive Person Declare charged that

n an unauthorized leave and that he
mors about Senior Scientologists.

unaware of said Suppressive Person

At that time a revised Declare

Said Declare charced Defendant

"Crimes and High Crimes and

Church." The charges included

taining lcans on meney under false

4

d other untruthful allegations
Imstrong an appropriate subject of
octrine." - Said Doctrine allows any

icked, cheated, lied to, sued, or

issued shortly after Defendant
photographs of his wedding on board
pbard appears), and photographs

lends, which also included photos of
L.R. Hubbard while in seclusion.

Although Defendant Armstrong

delivered the photographs to a Virgil Wilhite for sale, he
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never received paymeht or
When he became aware that
went to the Organization ¢
boisterous argument ensued
the premises and get an at

From his extensive kn
intelligence cperaticns ca
Scientology of California
pPersons), Defendant Armsﬁrc
his life and the life of hi
feared he Qould be the targ
In addition, Mr. Garriscn_E
documents and believed thay
Church of Scientology would
retrieve them.
certain documents for Mr. G
separate locaticn.

It was thereafter, in
Armstrong asked Mr. Garriso
his defense and sent the do

Flynn and Contos & Bunch.

eturn of his friend's pPhotographs.

he Church had these photographs, he
Tequest their return. 2 loud ang
and he eventually was tolgd to leave
orney.

wledge of the covert and

ried out by the Church of

gainst its enemies (suppressive

ng became terrified and feared that

S Wwife were in danger, and he also

et of costly ang harassing lawsuits.

ecame afraid for the security of the

the intelligence network of the

break and enter his home to

Thus, Defendant Armstrong made copies of

arrison and maintained them in a

the summer of 1982, that_Defendant

n for copies of documents to use in

cuments to his atéorneys,'nichael

After the within suit vas filed on August 2, 1982,

Defendant Armstrong was the
being followed and surveill

employment by Plaintiff; be

subject of harassment, including
¢d by individuals who admitted

ing assaulted by one of these

individuals; being struck bodily by a car driven by one of

these individuals; having tv

apparently to involve Defend

jo attempts made by said individuals

lant Armstrong in a freeway

4 14 -
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automobile accident; havip

Defendant Armstrong's Progerty,

g said individuals come onto

SPY in his windows, create

1 Y
disturbances, and upset hils neighbors. i i

appeared that Howard Schonm

sophisticated effort to suppress his testimony.

During trial when it

er (a former Scientologist) right be
called as a defense witnesls,

the Church engaged in a somewhat

*
It .is not

clear how the Church became aware of defense intentions to call

Mr. Schomer as a witness,

sought to entice him back

ﬁestimonyz

'l
»

but it is abundantly clear they

into the fold and prevent his

- 18 -
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232 Cal.App.3d 1060
_1'eCHURCH OF SCIENTOLOGY OF
CALIFORNIA, et al., Plaintiffs
and Appellants.

V.

Gerald ARMSTRONG, Defendant
and Respondent.

Nos. B025920, B038975.

Court of Appeal, Second District,
Division 3.

July 29, 1991.
Review Denied Oct 17, 1991.

Church sued former church workef
alleging he converted confidential archivg
materials and disseminated materials to un
authorized persons. in breach of his fiducil
ary duty. Former church worker Cross
complained seeking damages for fraud, in
tentional infliction ~f emotional distress
libel, breach of contract and tortious inter
ference with contract. The Superior Court
Los Angeles County, Paul G. Breckenridge
Jr., and Bruce R. Geernaert, JJ., dismissed
complaint, later settled and dismissed crosd
action, and ordered documents returned td
the church and the records sealed. ChurcH
appealed. The Court of Appeal, Danielson|
J., held that (1) successor judge's order
unsealing record more than five years after
order was sealed by his predecessor exf
ceeded judge’s authority, and (2) under apr
piication of conditional privilege doctring,
sufficient evidence supported finding thaf
church worker’s conversion of church doct
uments was justfied by his reasonable b
lief that church intended to cause him harm
and that he could prevent the harm only by
taking the documents.

Affirmed.

1. Appeal and Error 105

An order dismissing conversion actio
with prejudice, rather than an interlocutorE
order captioned “judgment” which ordere
that conversion plaintiffs take nothing b
their complaint but did not resolve cros

complaint, was the appealable judgment in
the action.

L7

CHURCH OF SCIENTIOLOGY v. ARMSTRONG 917
Clte as 283 Cal.Rptr. P17 (Cal.App. 2 Dist. 1991)

2. Appeal and Error <337(9)

Claim that opponent’s testimony was
impeached by testimony given in other pro-
ceeding subsequent to judgment appealed
from was not cognizable on appeal.

3. Judges =32

Successor judge's order on his own
motion vacating predecessor judge’s order
sealing court records in document conver-
sion dispute between church and former
church member exceeded successor judge’s
authority where vacating order was en-
tered long after time for reconsideration of
sealing order had expired, and no showing
was made other than that supporting mo-
tion for access to record by nonparty who
was also involved with litigation with
church. West's Ann.Cal.C.C.P. §§ 473,
1008.

4. Records ¢=32

Persons seeking sealing of record on
appeal had to make more particularized
showing of need than a mere request that
their pursuit of an action for conversion of
confidential church documents, brought pri-
marily to protect privacy interests in the
documents converted, should not cause dis-
closure of the information they sought to
protect. without any limitation to any par-
ticular portions of voluminous record of
trial court proceedings.

5. Torts &=27
Trover and Conversion €=40(1)

Sufficient evidence supported finding
that church worker's alleged conversion of
confidential church archive materials when
worker delivered documents to his attorney
was motivated by worker’s reasonable be-
lief that he and his wife were in danger
because the church was aware of what he
knew about the life of its founder, the
secret machinations and financial activities
of the church, and worker’s dedication to
the truth, and thus did not subject worker
to liability for conversion and invasion of
privacy under the conditional privilege doc-
trine.

6. Religious Societies ¢=31(5)
Trial ¢=54(1)

Trial court did not abuse its discretion

in admitting documentary and testimonial

6512
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evidence concerning history of church
worker’s relationship with church and
church practices in relation to its members,
former members or critics, where record
indicated court recognized that the state-
ments were admitted for the limited pur-
pose of proving reasonableness of worker’s
belief that church intended to harm him
when he converted church’s documents.

7. Trial &=387(1)

Trial court’s statement of decision in
church document conversion case merely
reflected court's findings on elements of
justification defense asserted by church

worker and did not result in miscarriage of
justice.

_LiosaRabinowitz, Boudin, Standard, Krin-
sky & Lieberman, Bowles & Moxon, Eric
M. Lieberman, Timothy Bowles, Kendrick
L. Moxon and Michael Lee Hertzberg, for
plaintiffs and appellants.

Gerald Armswong, In Pro. Per.

Toby L. Plevin, Paul Morantz and Mi-

chael L. Walton, for defendant and respon-
dent.

Lawrence Wollersheim, amicus curiae, on
behalf of respondent.

DANIELSON, Associate Justice.

In consolidated appeals. the Church of
Scientology (the Church) and Mary Sue
Hubbard (hereaster collectively *‘plain-
tiffs”) appeal from an order after appeal-
able judgment unsealing the file in Church
of Scientology of California v. Gerald Arm.-
strong (B038975), and from the judgment
entered in the case {B025920). We vacate
the order and affirm the judgment.

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

In the underlying action, the Church
sued Armstrong, a former Church worker,
alleging he converted to his own use confi-
dential archive materials and disseminated
the same to unauthorized persons, thereby
breaching his fiduciary duty to the Church,

l.. The “judgment” of August 10, 1984, is not
included in the present record on appeal. How-
ever. it is included in the petition of plaintiffs

IA REPORTER
232 Cal.App.3d 1060

which soupht return of the documents, in-
Junctive relief against further dissemina-
tion of the information contained therein,
imposition of a constructive trust over the
property and any profits Armstrong might
realize from his use of the materils, as
well as damages. Mary Sue Hubbard
(Hubbard), wife of Church founder L. Ran
Hubbard, intervened in the action, alleging
causes of action for conversion, invasion of
privacy, pcssession of personal property
(sic], and declaratory and injunctive relief.
Armstrong cross-complained, seeking dam-+
ages for fraud, intentional infliction of
emotional distress, libel, breach of contract,
and tortious interference with contract.

With respect to the complaint and com-
plaint-in-intervention, the trial court found
the Church had made out a prima facie
case of conversion, breach of fiduciary
duty, and breach of confidence, and that
Mary Sue Hubbard had made out a prima

facie case of conversion and invasion of -

privacy. However, the court also deter-
mined that Armstrong’s conduct was
_Liogyustified, in that he believed the Church
threatened harm to himself and his wife,
and that he could prevent such harm by
taking and keeping the documents.

Following those determinations the court
made and entered an order, entitled “Judg-
ment,” on August 10, 1984,! ordering and
adjudging that plaintiffs take nothing by
their complaint and complaint-in-interven-
tion, and that defendant Armstrong have
and recover his costs and disbursements.
Plaintiffs filed notice of appeal from that
order. )

{11 We dismissed the appeal (B005912)
because that “judgment” was not a final
judgment and was not appealable; Arm-
strong’s cross-complaint had not yet been
resolved and further judicial action was

essential to the final determination of the .

rights of the parties. (Lyon v. Goss (1942)
19 Cal.2d 659, 670, 123 P.2d 11.)

Armstrong’s cross-action was then set-
tled and dismissed, the subject documents

and appellants for review by our Supreme Count
of our decision (B005912) in this case, filed
December 18, 1986.
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were ordered returned to the Church, and
the record was sealed by Judge Brecken-
ridge pursuant to stipulation of the parties.
The dismissal of Armstrong’s cross-action
was a final determination of the rights of
the parties, and constituted a final judg-
ment, permitting appellate review of the
court’s interlocutory order captioned “judg-
ment” filed August 10, 1984,

Plaintiffs then timely filed a new notice
of appeal (B025920), from the orders enti-
tled “Order for Return of Exhibits and
Sealed Documents” and “Order Dismissing
Action With Prejudice,” both filed Decem-
ber 11, 1986, and from the “Judgment”
filed August 10, 1984, stating that the ap-
peal was “only from S0 much of those
orders and judgment which denied dam-
ages to plaintiff and plaintiff-intervenor”
on their complaints. We rule that the Or-
der Dismissing Action With Prejudice is the
appealable judgment in B025920.:

The Unsealing Order After Judgment
(B038975)

On October 11, 1988, Bent Corydon, who
iS a party to other litigation against the
Church, moved to unseal the record in this
case for the purpose of preparing for trial
of his cases. He sought only private disclo-
sure. Judge_uoﬁBreckenridge having re-
tired, Corydon's motion was heard by
Judge Geernaert, who made an order dated
November 9, 1988, which he clarified by
another order dated November 30, 1988,
which opened the record not only to Cory-
don but also to the general public, thus

vacating the earlier order made by Judge
Breckenridge.

On December 19, 1988, plaintiffs Church
and Hubbard filed a timely notice of appeal
from those orders made after appealable
judgment. That appeal, B038975, is the
other of the current consolidated appeals.

2. We later granted the motion of appellant
Church to deem the record on appeal in
B005912 to

be the record on appeal in B025920,
which is one of the current consolidated ap-
peals; we also take judicial notice of the entire
record in B00S912. Consequently the reporters’
transcript, the appendices of the parties on ap-
peal. and the parties briefs in case No. B005912

CHURCH OF SCIENTOLOGY] v. ARMSTRONG 919
Clte ns 283 Cal.Rptr. 917 (Cal.Agp. 2 Dist. 1991)

On|December 22, 1988, Division Four of
this gourt issued an order staying Judge
Geermaert’s orders (1) unsealing the record
and (2) denying a motion for reconsidera-
tion ¢f the unsealing order, to the extent
those| orders unsealed the record as to the
general public and permitted review by any
person other than Corydon and his counsel
of re¢ord. On December 29, 1988, Division
Four|modified this stay order by adding to
it a protective order prohibiting Corydon
and Qis counsel from disseminating copies
of or disclosing the content of any doc-
uments found in the file to the public or
any third party, except to the extent neces-
sary fto litigate the actions to which Cory-
don and the Church were parties. Corydon
and His counsel were also required to make
good [faith efforts in Corydon’s litigation to
submjt under seal any documents they
found in the file of this case.

On|this appeal, Corvdon argues in favor
of the trial court’s order unsealing the
recorfi, as he wishes to be free of the
proteftive orders contained in the modified
stay prder issued by Division Four.

The |“Judgment” of August 10, 1984
(B023920)

(2]| Armstrong's taking of the doc-
uments is undisputed. The evidence relat-
ing t¢ his claim of justification, which was
found credible by the trial court’ estab-
lished that Armstrong was a dedicated
member of the Church for a period of
twelve years. For ten of those years, he
was 3 member of the Sea Organization, an
elite \group of Scientologists working di-
rectly under Church founder L. Ron Hub-
bard.| In 1979, Armstrong became a part
of L.|Ron Hubbard’s “Household Unijt" at
Gilman Hot Springs, California.

In January 1980, fearing a raid by law
enforfement agencies, Hubbard's repre-
sentatives ordered the shredding of all doc-

are part of the record on appeal in B025920.
The |parties have also filed briefs in B025928,

3. Pl3intiffs’ contention that certain testimony
was limpeached by testimony given in other pro-
ceedlings subsequent to the judgment herein is,
of cpurse, not cognizable on this appeal.

.6514.
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uments showing that Hubbard controlled
Scientology organizations, finances, person-
nel, or the_j.ssproperty at Gilman Hot
Springs. In a two-week period, approxi-
mately one million pages were shredded
pursuant to this order.

In the course of the inspection of doc-
uments for potential shredding, Armstrong
reviewed a box containing Hubbard’s early
personal letters, diaries, and other writ-
ings, which Armstrong preserved.

Thereafter, Armstrong petitioned for
permission to conduct research for a
planned biography of Hubbard, using his
discovery of the boxed materials. Hubbard
approved the petition, and Armstrong, who
had discovered and preserved approximate-
ly 16 more boxes of similar materials, be-
came the Senior Personal Relations Officer
Researcher. He subsequently moved the
materials to the Church of Scientology Ce-
dars Complex in Los Angeles.

Hubbard selected one Omar Garrison to
write his biography. Armstrong became
Garrison’s research assistant, copying doc-
uments and delivering the copies to him,
traveling with him, arranging interviews
for him, and generally consulting with him
about the project. Armstrong also con-
ducted a genealogical study of Hubbard's
family, and organized the materials he had
gathered into bound volumes for Garrison's
use, retaining a copy for the Church ar-
chives. The number of documents ob-
tained by Armstrong ultimately reached
500,000 to 600,000. Within a week after
commencing the biography project, Arm-
strong and Garrison began to note discrep-
ancies between the information set forth in
the documents and representations previ-
ously made concerning Hubbard. Then
Armstrong was summoned to Gilman Hot
Springs, where he was ordered to undergo
a “security check” consisting of interroga-
tion while connected to a crude lie-detector
called an E-meter, to determine what mate-
rials he had delivered to Garrison and to

meet charges that he was speaking out
against Hubbard.

In November 1981, Armstrong wrote a
report urging the importance of ensuring
the accuracy of all materials published con-
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cyrning L. Ron Hubbard, and relating ex-
amples of factual inaccuracies in previous
phblications. In December 1981, Arm-
rong and his wife left the Church, surrep-
tifiously moving their possessions from the
Church premises because they knew that
persons attempting to leave were locked
, subjected to security checks, and forced
sign promissory notes to the Church,
cgniessions of “blackmailable” material ob-
ined from their personal files, and inerim-
inating documents, and they were afraid
that they would be forced to do the same.
Before leaving, Armstrong and his wife
copied a number of documents which he
delivered to Garrison for his work on the
ubbard biography. After leaving, Arm-
sfrong cooperated with his successor, as-

sisting him in locating documents and other
items.

10s:Commencing in February 1982, the
ifternational Church of Scientology issued
a|series of “‘suppressive person declares” in
effect labelling Armstrong an enemy of the
urch and charging that he had taken an
upauthorized leave, was spreading destruc-
tive rumors about senior Church officials,
anpd secretly planned to leave the Church.
ese “declares” subjected Armstrong to
the “Fair Game Doctrine”” of the Church,
hich permits a suppressive person to be
ricked, sued or lied to or destroved ...
r} deprived of property or injured by any
eans by any Scientologist....”

At around the same time, the Church
confiscated photographs of Hubbard and
ofhers that Armstrong had arranged to sell
one Virgil Wilhite. When Armstrong
et with Church members and demanded
the return of the photographs, he was or-
dered from the Church property and told to
t an attorney. Thereafter, he received a
letter from Church counsel threatening him
ith a lawsuit. In early May 1982, he
became aware of private investigators
atching his house and following him.

These events caused Armstrong to fear
at his life and that of his wife were in
nger, and that he would be made the
prget of costly and harassing lawsuits.
he author, Garrison, feared that his home
rould be burglarized by Church personnel

= v
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seeking to retrieve the documents in his
possession.

For these reasons, Armstrong took a
number of documents from Garrison and
sent them to his attorney.

Following commencement of the instant
action, Armstrong was pushed or shoved
by one of the Church's investigators. In a
later incident his elbow was struck by an
investigator’'s vehicle; still later, the same
investigator pulled in front of Armstrong
on a freeway and slammed on his brakes.
This investigator's vehicle also crossed a
lane line as if to push Armstrong off of the
road. Plaintiffs’ position is that the inves-
tigators were hired solely for the purpose

of regaining the documents taken by Arm-
strong.

Trial of the complaint and the complaint-
in-intervention was by the court sitting
without a jury. On August 10, 1984, the
court made its order, captioned “Judg-
ment,” ordering that plaindff Church and
plaintiff in intervention Hubbard, take
nothing by their complaint and complaint-
in-intervention and that defendant Arm-
strong have and recover from each of them
his costs and disbursements.

_1,06sDISCUSSION

The Order Unsealing The Record Must Be
Reversed

(31 "Although the California Public
Records Act (Gov.Code, §§ 6250 [et seq.])
does not apply to court records (see § 6252,
subd. (a)), there can be no doubt that court
records are public records, available to the
public in general ... unless a specific ex-
ception makes specific records nonpublic.
(See Craemer v. Superior Court (1968)
265 Cal.App.2d 216, 220-222 {71 Cal.Rptr.
193]....) To prevent secrecy in public af-
fairs public policy makes public records and
documents available for public inspection
by ... members of the general public....
(Citations.] Statutory exceptions exist [ci-
tations], as do judicially created exceptions,
generally temporary in nature, exemplified
by such cases as Craemer, supra, and
Rosato v. Superior Court (1975) 51 Cal.
App.3d 190 [124 Cal.Rptr. 427] ..., which

CHURCH OF SCIENTOLOGY y. ARMSTRONG 921
Clte as 283 Cal.Rptr. 917 (CalApp} 2 Diat. 1991)

involvgd temporary sealing of grand jury
transchipts during criminal trials to protect
defendant's right to a fair trial free from
adversie advance publicity. Clearly, a court
has inherent power to control its own
recordp to protect rights of litigants before
it, but| ‘where there is no contrary statute
or countervailing public policy, the right to
inspect public records must be freely al-
lowed| (Craemer, supra. 265 Cal.App.2d
at p. 222 [71 Cal.Rptr. 193]) The court in
Craemer suggested that countervailing
public| policy might come into play as a
result| of events that tend to undermine
indiviqual security, personal liberty, or pri-
vate groperty, or that injure the public or
the gublic good.” (Estate of Hearse,
(1977)] 67 Cal.App.3d 777, 782-783. 136 Cal.
Rptr. [821.)

“If [public court business is conducted in
e, it becomes impossible to expose

secrecy in judicial proceedings and
a policy of maximum public access

Thus in Sheppard v. Mazwell (1966)
.S. 333, 350 {86 S.Ct. 1307, 1515, 16

And the California Supreme
has said, ‘it is a first principle that

it has a legitimate interest and right of
general access to court records....” (Es-

ordef, the order became final long before
Corydon intervened in the action almost
two |years later.

6
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In Greene v. State Farm Fire & Casual-
ty Co. (1990) 294 Cal.App.3d 1583, 274 Cal.
Rptr. 736, the cour: stated at page 1388,
274 Cal.Rptr. 736: *The power of one
judge to vacate an order duly made by
another judge is limited. In Fallon v. Su-
perior Court (1939) 33 Cal.App.2d 48, 352
(90 P.2d 838] ... we issued a writ of prohi-
bition restraining a successor law and mo-
tion judge from vacating an order of his
predecessor, stating, "Except in the manner
prescribed by statute a superior court may
not set aside an order regularly made.’ In
Sheldon v. Superior Court (1941) 42 Cal.
App.2d 406, 408 {108 P.24 945] ... the
Court of Appeal, Second Appeilate Distriet
annulled the order of one probate judge
which vacated the previpusly made order of
another probate judge appointing an admin-
istrator, stating ‘that a valid order made ex
parte may be vacated only after a showing
of cause for the making of the latter order,
that is, that in the making of the osiginal
order there was (1) inadvertence, (2) mis-
take, or (3) fraud.’ Even more on point, in
Wyoming Pacific 0il Co. v, Preston (1958)
50 Cal.2d 736, 739 [329 P.2g 489] ... the
California Supreme Court reversed the or-
der of a second judge dismissing an action
under former [Code of Civi] Procedure] sec-
tion 38la for failure to make service of
process within three vears, after a first
judge had found as a fact that the affected
defendant was concealing himself to avoid
service of process, quoting Sheldon. (Cita-
tion.]” (Fn. omitted.)

In Greene, Supra. Alameda County Su-
perior Court Judge Donald McCullum is-
sued general order 3.30, in which he found
it impracticable, futile, or impossible to
bring certain cases, including Greene, to

4. Plaintiffs do not challenge Corvdon's access to
the record, stating in their brief: “Corydon's
access must continue to be limited by the condi-
tions imposed thus far by this court's Modified
Temporary Stay Order.... He sought access
only for use in private litigation against the
Church; this court's order, which permits him
10 use the information he obtains only in said
litigations and only after making a good faith
effort to have it introduced under seal, is appro-
priately tailored to meet his asserted need with-
out unnecessarily invading appellants’ privacy.”
Pursuant to the stay order issued by Division
Four, Corydon has had the desired access since
December 22, 1988, and the issue is moot as to
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trial |within the applicable five-year limita-
tion |period (Code Civ.Proc., § 583, subd.
(b)), and extended the deadline for bringing
thos¢ cases to trial. Thereafter, Judge
Richard Barulini, to whom the case was
igned for trial, dismissed the action, on

askirlg Judge Bartalini to focus on the par-
ticulgr facts of the case and, in light of
thos

requgst, and Judge Bartalini erred in grant-
ing Jt. [Citations.] General order 3.30
‘not be set aside simply because “the
courg concludes differently than it has upon
its fifst decision.”’ [Citations.]” (Greene

between plaintiffs and Armstrong,
seekipg access to the sealed record for the

ridge(s order sealing the record. The time

_ohad long since expired for reconsidera-
tion pf Judge Breckenridge's order (Code
Civ.Proc., § 1008), or relief therefrom pur-
suant to Code of Civil Procedure section
473, 3nd the parties had the right to rely on
the spaling order. No showing was made
other| than that supporting Corydon's mo-
tion for access to the record.! We hold
Judge Geernaert exceeded his authority in
vacating Judge Breckenridge’s order seal-
ing the record.’

him| He now seeks in this court more than he
sought by his motion in the trial court.

5. Anmstrong, who did not participate in the
heafing on the motion below, has filed a brief
claiming the record should be unsealed because
the Church has failed to comply with the terms
of its settlement agreement with him. His dec-
larations to the latter effect are not properly
befdre us on this appeal, as they were not con.
sidefed by the trial court. We therefore consid-
er icither the meaning of the portions of the
settlement agreement to which he refers nor the

quegtion whether the Church has complied

therewith.
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The Record On Appeal Is Not Sealed

There remains a question as to the effeet
of this appeal upon the sealing order. The
brief filed by the plaintiffs apparently as-

sumes continued effectiveness of the order
on appeal.

In Champion . Superior Court (1988)
201 Cal.App.3d 777, 247 Cal.Rptr. 624, the
court referred to ‘‘an increasing trend by
litigants to assume that when the parties
stipulate below or convince the trial court
of the need for confidentiality, no showing
of need must be made in this court.” (/d.
at p. 783, 247 Cal.Rptr. 624.) The Champi-
on court determined to the contrary, stat-
ing “that a party seeking to lodge or file a
document under seal bears a heavy burden
of showing the appellate court that the
interest of the party in confidentiality out-
weighs the public policy in favor of open
court records. ‘The law favors maximum
public access to Judicial proceedings and
court  records. (Citadons.]  Judicial
records are historically and presumptively
open to the public and there is an important
right of access which should not be closed
except for compelling countervailing rea-

sons." [Citaton.]” (/d. at p. 788, 247 Cal.
Rptr. 624)) :

Plaintiffs cite Champion, claiming, inter
alia, that the appellate court, in granting
the motion to seal in that case, stated it
was “influenced by the | oriparties’ agree-
ment to the procedure and by the lower
court’s sealing of its records.” The quoted
language appears at page 736, 247 Cal.
Rptr. 624 of the decision, and refers to the
court's initial response to requests to seal
received in connection with the petition,
opposition, and amici curiae requests. La-
ter, after receiving “reburtal briefs, rebut-
tal declarations, reply to amici, declarations
in reply to amici, and supplemental declara-
tions,” (Champion r. Superior Court, su-
pra, 201 Cal.App.3d at p. 786, 247 Cal.Rptr.
624) resulting in a file containing “some
sealed documents, some public documents,
and many documents not yet designated as
sealed or public,” (ibid) most of which

We are also in receipt of an amicus curiae
brief of Lawrence Wollersheim, who urges un.
sealing of the record based on reasons of public
policy. Wollersheim's argument is directed pri-

bldnded together discussions of confidential
angl public materiuls, as well as requests to
sedl all of the documents without any ex-
planation of why any of the documents
dejerved such treatment (ibid.), the court
stited, at page 787, 247 Cal.Rptr. 624, “it is
apparent that we acted precipitously in
grjnting the earliest, unsupported, re-
quests to seal documents lodged or filed in
this matter.” While the court did ultimate-
ly igrant the application to seal the entire
filg, it did so because of the confusion and
unflue complication and delay that would
be|caused by return of the documents for
segregation into public and confidential
pogtions. (/d. at pp. 789-790, 247 Cal.Rptr.
624.)

(41 In our case, plaintiffs have not for-
Ily requested sealing of the record on
appeal. They argue, in seeking reversal of
Judge Geernaert's order vacating the seal-
ing order made in the trial court, that their
pursuit of an action brought primarily for
the purpose of protecting their respective
privacy interests in the documents convert-
ed by Armstrong should not cause disclo-
sute of the very information they sought to
prdtect, through references in the record to
sugh information. The argument is not
ited to any particular portion or portions
of the voluminous record of the trial court
prdceedings. Should plaintiffs move to
sedl the record on appeal, we would require
thuch more particularized showing.

m

Th¢ Defense of Justification Applies To
The Causes Of Action Alleged Against
A trong;, The Judgment Is Affirmed

‘|One who invades the right of privacy of
angther is subject to liability for the result-

(Rgst.2d Torts, § 6352A(1).) “The right of
prifacy is invaded by [7] (a) unreasonable

... (c) unreasonable publicity given to
other’s private life....” (Rest.2d
» § 632A(2).) “The rules on condition-
al privileges to publish defamatory matter

arily to the documentary exhibits lodged in
the underlying case. Those documents have
been returned to the Church in accordance with
the terms of the settiement agreement.
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stated in §§ 394 to 598A, and on the special
privileges stated in §§ 611 and 612, apply
to the publication of any matter that is an
invasion of privacy.” (Rest.2d Torts,
§ 652G.) Under section 394 of the Restate-
ment “(a]n occasion makes a publication
conditionally privileged if the circum/
stances induce a correct or reasonable be{
lief that (a) there is information that af
fects a sufficiently | m-important interest
of the publisher, and (b) the recipient’s
knowledge of the defamatory matter wil

be of service in the lawful protection of the
interest.”

“Unless otherwise agreed, an agent i
subject to a duty to the principal not to use
or to communicate information confidentia
ly given him by the principal or acquired by
him during the course of or on account o
his agency or in violation of his duties a
agent. in competition with or to the injur]
of the principal, on his own account or o
behalf of another, although such inform3
tion- does not relate to the transaction ih
which he is then employed, unless the in
formation is a matter of general knowil-
edge.” (Res.2d Agency, § 395.) However,
“la]ln agent is privileged to protect intef-
ests of his own which are superior to thoge
of the principal. even though he does so jt
the expense of the principal’s interests ¢r

J JERE w72 Y T

6. No purpose would be served by our engagifg
in an exhaustive discussion of each of the poifts
asserted by plaintiffs.

For example. plaintiffs misconstrue the defi-
sion in Dieternann v. Time, [nc. (Sth Cir.1971)
449 F.2d 243. The Dieternann court statgd:
“Privilege concepts developed in defamatipn
cases and to some extent in privacy actions|in
which publication is an essential component gre
not relevant in determining liability for intpu-

sive conduct antedating publication.” (/d at pp.
149-250.) The question in that case was wheth-
er the defendant, whose employvees gained pn-
trance to plaintiff's home by subterfuge dnd
there photographed him and recorded his cpn-
versation without his consent, was insulaled
from liability by the First Amendment beca
its employees did these acts for the purposq of
gathering material for a magazine story which
was thereafter published. The case has nothing
to do with the justification asserted hergin.
Pearson v. Dodd (D.C.Cir.1969) 410 F.2d 701, is
similarly inapposite.
Discussing the privilege of an agent set fqrth
in section 418 of the Restatement, plaingiffs
point to the last sentence of comment b, which
reads: “So, too, if the agent acquires thing$ in
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in disobedience to his orders.”
Agency, § 418.)

With respect to plaintiffs’ causes of ac-
tion for conversion, “{o]ne is privileged to
commit an act which would otherwise be a
trespass to or a conversion of a chattel in
the possession of another, for the purpose
of defending himself or a third person
against the other, under the same condi-
tions which would afford a privilege to
inflict 2 harmful or offensive contact upon
the other for the same purpose.” (Res.2d
Torts, § 261.) “For the purpose of defend-
ing his own person, an actor is privileged to
make intentional invasions of another’s in-
terests or personality when the actor rea-
sonably believes that such other person
intends to cause a confinement or a harm-
ful or offensive contact to the actor, or that
such invasion of his interests is reasonably
probable, and the actor reasonably believes
that the apprehended harm can be safely
prevented only by the infliction of such
harm upon the other. (See § 63.) A sim-
ilar privilege is afforded an actor for the
protection of certain third persons. (See
§ 76.)” (Res.2d Torts, § 261, com.)

We find no California case, and the par-
ties cite none, holding that the above de-
scribed privileges apply in this state.® We

violation of his duty of lovalty, he is subject to
liability for a failure to use them for the benefit
of the principal.” This language has refereace
to the initial sentence of the comment: “If the
conflict of interests is created through a breach
of duty by the agent, the agent is subject to
liability if he does not prefer his principal’s
interests.” In the present case, the conflict was
created by the plaintiffs, who threatened Arm-
strong with harm.

Referring to comment b to section 396 of the
Restatemnent Second of Agency, which has to do
with the use of customer lists in unfair competi-
tion, plaintiffs urge that even if Armstrong was
privileged to verbally report to others informa-
tion he gained in his capacity as an agent of the
Church, he would not be privileged under any
circumstances to retain or disseminate Church
documents. They also urge, based on cases
which are inapposite to that at bench, that the
justification defense applies only in emergency
situations requiring immediate action to avert
danger, or where the agent believes that the
principal’s documents are the fruits or instru-
mentalities of crime or fraud. The court found,
on substantial evidence, that Armstrong was un-
der a reasonable apprehension of danger when

(Res.2d
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believe the trial 1:prscourt appropriately
adopted the Restatement approach resgect-
ing conditional privilege. (See 5 Witkin,
Summary of Cal.Law (eth ed. 1988) Tdrts,
§ 278, p. 360; Gilmore v. Superior Cdurt
(1991) 230 Cal.App.3d 416, 421, 281 [Cal.
Rptr. 343)

(3] In its statement of decision |the
court found Armstrong delivered the Hoe-
uments in question to his attorney ‘f...
because he believed that his life, physjical
and mental well-being, as well as tha{ of
his wife, were threatened because the o ga-
nization was aware of what he knew about
the life of L. Ron Hubbard, the segret
machinations and finanecial activities of |the
Church, and his dedication to the th.
He believed that the only way he cduid
defend himself, physically as well as from
harassing lawsuits, was to take from Ofar
Garrison those materials which would up-
port and corroborate everything that| he
had been saying within the Church about
L. Ron Hubbard and the Church, or reflute
the allegations made against him in |the
April 22 Suppressive Person Declare. |He
believed that the only way he could be shre
that the documents would remain secure
for his future use was to send them to|his
attorneys, and that to protect himseif,| he
had to go public so as to minimize the gisk
that L. Ron Hubbard, the Church, or any of
their agents would do him physical harfn.”
The court’s findings were substant hily
supported by the evidence adduced at tyial.

Admission of Documentary and Testitno-
nial Evidence Over Appellants’ Objec-

tions Did Not Result In A Miscarriagg of
Justice

Armstrong’s defense was predicated| on
his claim that he reasonably believed [the
Church intended to cause him harm, and
that he could prevent the apprehended
harm only by taking the documents, efen

though the taking resulted in harm to fthe
Church.

(6] _{jorPlaintiffs complain of the tfial
court’s admission of documentary and testi-
monial evidence concerning the history| of

he delivered the documents to his auonﬁey.

Armstrong’s relationship with the Church,
and certain practices of the Church in rela-
tion to its members, as well as its former
members and/or critics. The record is re-
plete with statements of the court’s recog-
nition of the limited purpose for which the
complained of statements were properly ad-
mitted, i.e., to prove Armstrong’s state of
mind when he converted the Church’s doe-
uments. These statements are referenced
in Armstrong’s briefs, and acknowledged
by plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs complain that certain testimo-
ny of defense witnesses was irrelevant, as
there was no showing that Armstrong was
aware of the facts to which the witnesses
testified. The testimony in question was
largely corroborative of Armstrong’s testi-
mony with respect to Church practices af-
fecting his state of mind, and was relevant
to the issue of the reasonableness of his
belief that the Church intended to cause
him harm. -

[7] Plaintiffs complain, finally, that the
trial court’s statement of decision shows’
the court improperly considered the evi-
dence admitted for the limited purpose of
establishing Armstrong’s state of mind.
We are satisfied the complained of com-
ments reflect the court’s findings on the
elements of the justification defense assert-
ed by Armstrong, and that neither the ad-
mission of the evidence nor the court’s
comments resulted in a miscarriage of jus-
tice. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.)

DECISION

The judgment is affirmed. The order
vacating the order sealing the record in the
trial court is reversed. Each party to bear
its own costs on this appeal.

KLEIN, PJ., and HINZ, J., concur.

More was not required.




